Animal Law Coalition         Laura Allen, Esq., Executive Director 

June 8, 2009

Gene L. Dodaro
Acting Comptroller General
Government Accountability Office
441 G St., NW
Washington, DC 20548

Re: Request for Government Accountability Office investigation

Animals’ Angels and Animal Law Coalition respectfully request the Government Accountability Office (“GAO”) investigate the failure of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) and, specifically, the Animal & Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS”), to enforce the Commercial Transport of Equines to Slaughter Act, regulations found at 9 CFR 88.1-88.6. Animals’ Angels and Animal Law Coalition also request the GAO investigate the continuing failure of Food Safety Inspection Service (“FSIS”) to enforce the  Humane Methods of Slaughter Act, 7 U.S.C. §1901 et seq., specifically the “handling” of horses “in connection with slaughter”.  

Specifically, USDA and APHIS have created substantial risk of injury to the public and caused significant injury, suffering and death to horses from failure to enforce standards for conveyance of horses to slaughter pursuant to 9 C.F.R. 88.3 and 88.4(b). Reports establish horses are still transported to slaughter in violation of 9 C.F.R. §88.3(b). For example, open trailers are still used at export pens. These open trailers expose horses to the elements and they hit their heads on the low metal pipes.  (Exhibit 1 - pictures attached)
Shippers have not driven horses “in a manner to avoid causing injury”. 9 C.F.R. §88.4(b)  Serious accidents involving double deck and single deck trailers have occurred. (See http://www.equineprotectionnetwork.com/transport/transportindex.htm#Accidents which has a list of all accidents with double deck trailers. 
These transports also violate 9 C.F.R. §§88.3(a)(1),(3),.4(a)(4)(i) in failing to protect the “health and well-being” of the horses, crowding horses into trailers in which they cannot even raise their heads during long, arduous transports; and in failing to have sufficient dividers placed between horses. (See Exhibit 2 - pictures) 

There is also evidence the transports take longer than 28 hours, clearly putting the horses’ well being at risk. (See Exhibit 3) 
There are no records maintained by USDA or APHIS that show anyone checks at the point of loading if the owner/shipper was truthful on Form 10-13 and actually provided access to food,  water and rest as required by 9 C.F.R. §§88.4(a)(1) and (a)(3)(x), and (a)(4)(b)(3). USDA or APHIS has failed to enforce requirements pursuant to 9 C.F.R. §§88.4(a)(3)(vii), (viii) that owners/shippers issues statements of fitness to travel and descriptions of “any preexisting injuries or other unusual condition of the equine, such as a wound or blindness in one eye, that may cause the equine to have special handling needs”. 

There are also no records of inspections to confirm that during transit to the slaughtering facility, the owner/shippers “[o]bserve the equines as frequently as circumstances allow, but not less than once every 6 hours, to check the physical condition of the equines and ensure that all requirements of this part are being followed….[and] obtain veterinary assistance as soon as possible from an equine veterinarian for any equines in obvious physical distress.” 9 C.F.R. §88.4(b)(2).

Documents and photos recently released by USDA reveal significant injuries to horses during transport and at slaughterhouse facilities.  Injuries included conscious dismemberment, open fractures, blinding, and battered faces.  It appears some horses were left to bleed out.  http://www.kaufmanzoning.net/foia.htm  The USDA failed to release these documents and photos for 3 years after a request for them that was submitted by equine cruelty investigator Julie Caramante pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. §552 et seq.

The USDA and AHPIS appear to have failed miserably in enforcing 9 U.S.C. §§88.4(c) requiring the “[h]andling of all equines in commercial transportation to a slaughtering facility … be done as expeditiously and carefully as possible in a manner that does not cause unnecessary discomfort, stress, physical harm, or trauma.” The USDA was required by 9 C.F.R. §88.4(e) “to take appropriate actions to alleviate the suffering of any equine.” In fact, 9 C.F.R. §313.50(b) states, “If the cause of inhumane treatment is the result of establishment employee actions in the handling or moving of livestock, …no more livestock shall be moved to the stunning area until the inspector receives satisfactory assurances from the establishment operator that there will not be a recurrence.”

Animals’ Angels and Animal Law Coalition request the GAO investigate the failure of these government agencies to protect the public and horses pursuant to these regulations.  

It should be noted that in 2004 the GAO found USDA records of violations of humane slaughter rules were inconsistent and incomplete. Inspectors were unsure of the requirements, and failed to document the scope and severity of violations, if they did so at all. It is outrageous the most frequent violation noted was ineffective stunning, meaning “in many cases ..a conscious animal reach[ed] slaughter” in violation of 7 USCS § 1902(a); 9 C.F. R. §313.15. See GAO-04-247, GAO-08-686T. 9 C.F.R. §313.50(c) is explicit: “If the cause of inhumane treatment is the result of improper stunning, …stunning …procedures shall not be resumed until the inspector receives satisfactory assurances from the establishment operator that there will not be a recurrence.”  
In a 2008 report the GAO noted that FSIS “has issued additional guidance to its district offices and inspectors to assist them in determining when to take enforcement actions for repeated violations. The guidance includes, among other things: 

· categories for the types and causes of humane handling and slaughter violations to be reported on noncompliance records; 

· questions inspection personnel should use to assist them in determining when a noncompliance trend exists; and 

· examples of noncompliance activities affecting an animal’s safety or constituting inhumane treatment of an egregious nature that would warrant immediate enforcement by inspection personnel.” GAO-08-686T
But GAO concluded, “Although the agency’s actions were responsive to our recommendations, without further evaluation, we do not know the effectiveness of these actions.” GAO-08-686T
Also, FSIS has continued to fail to report “annually on trends in compliance with humane slaughter methods”, and as GAO noted just this year, “[FSIS’] most recent data on violations were incomplete.”

Animals’ Angels and Animal Law Coalition further request the GAO investigate and assess the effectiveness of any FSIS guidelines issued since the 2004 GAO report and the ongoing failure of FSIS to enforce humane slaughter standards.   

Sincerely, 

Laura Allen

Executive Director

Animal Law Coalition

907 Hanshaw Rd. #213

Ithaca, New York   14850
(607) 220-8938
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